47612-6-II
No. 46784-4-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 OCT 12 PM 3:58

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY

DEPUTY

ANGELA EVANS

Appellant,

v.

TACOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT, NO. 10.;

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

THADDEUS P. MARTIN, ATTORNEY AT LAW

Thaddeus P. Martin, WSBA # 28175

Attorney for Petitioner

thad@thadlaw.com

4928 109th St SW

Lakewood, WA 98499

(253) 682-3420

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a case, despite viable legal theories and all substantial evidence supporting such theories, the trial court disposed of under CR 12(b)(6) and summary judgment standards. As shown herein, the Appellant has established that the Tacoma School District (TSD, hereafter), either knew or should have known that one of their employees, a security guard named Jesse Brent, on school grounds and during school hours, engaged in a abusing grooming/romantic relationship with Appellant's minor 17-year-old female daughter Jasmine McFadden. The location of the abuse was at TSD's Science and Math Institute (SAMI).

The evidence presented below established, among other things that during the course of school hours security guard Brent would exhibit inappropriate romantic interests with the 17-year-old Jasmine by literally coming into one of her classes every day and spending the entire class period in the back of the classroom flirting with her and carrying on an inappropriate relationship.

The evidence established that not only should Mr. Brent have never been hired, due to disqualifying criminal history and the absence of a valid driver's license, but despite his carrying on with Appellant's then

minor daughter, no one at the TSD took any action to either report or curtail such abusive grooming behaviors.

As a proximate result of the inactions and inattentions of TSD with respect to the misconduct of one of its employees, Appellant's relationship with her daughter, who was a minor at the initiation of Mr. Brent's amorous attentions, has been forever and hopelessly compromised and destroyed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff's claims for common law and statutory claims for alienation of affections under CR 12(b)(6) standards.
2. The trial court erred in determining under CR 12(b)(6) standards that the Tacoma School District cannot be vicariously liable for the actions of its employee Mr. Brent which served to alienate the affections between the plaintiff and her daughter.
3. The trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff's negligent supervision, hiring and retention claim.
4. The trial court erred in dismissing on summary judgment grounds plaintiff's claim pursuant to RCW 26.44.030 for failure to report child abuse when under the terms of the implied remedy applicable to the relevant statutory scheme a parent has an independent cause of action for a failure to report.
5. The trial court misapplied CR 12(b)(6) and summary judgment standards in this case.

III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by dismissing plaintiff's statutory and/or common law alienation of affections claims against the Tacoma School District under CR 12(b)(6) standards when, hypothetically, under the vicarious liability principles the school district can be held liable for the misconduct of its employee Mr. Brent?

2. Assuming *arguendo* that Mr. Brent was not operating within the "scope of his employment" for the application of respondeat superior principles, did the Trial Court nevertheless commit reversible error by dismissing plaintiff's claim that the school district's independent negligence in the hiring, retention and supervision of Mr. Brent caused her injury?

3. Did the trial court err in dismissing on summary judgment grounds plaintiff's failure to report claim brought pursuant to the implied remedy attached to RCW 26.44.030?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Factual Background

The Tacoma School District had in place a policy called "MAINTAINING PROFESSIONAL STAFF/STUDENT BOUNDARIES. CP. 231. The purpose of this policy is stated to increase staff's awareness

“of their role in protecting children from inappropriate conduct by adults” and defines “a boundary invasion as an act, omission or pattern of behavior by a school employee that violates professional staff/student boundaries, does not have an educational purpose, and has the potential to abuse the staff/student relationship.” Id. This policy defines “Unacceptable Conduct” to include (CP 231-233):

- Any type of physical contact or communication with a student that violates the Board’s policies on employee Conduct on Harassment, Sexual Harassment or WLAD constitutes misconduct[.];
- Singling out a particular student for personal attention and friendship beyond the professional staff/student relationship;
- For non-guidance/counseling staff, encouraging students to confide their personal or family problems and/or relationships.
- Sending or taking students on personal errands unrelated to any educational purpose;
- Banter, allusions, jokes or innuendos of a sexual nature with students;
- Disclosing personal, sexual, family employment concerns or other private matters to one or more students;
- Addressing students or permitting students to address staff members with personalized terms of endearment, pet names or otherwise in an overly familiar manner;

- Maintaining personal contact with a student outside of school by electronic means such as instant messenger or internet chat rooms or social networking Web sites;
- Sending phone, email, text messages or other forms of written or electronic communications to students when the communication is unrelated to school work or other legitimate school business;
- Socializing or spending time with students[.]

TSD's policy mandates that "staff members who become aware of conduct by a staff member that may constitute a boundary invasion are required to promptly notify the building principal or the supervisor of the employee suspected of engaging in inappropriate conduct." CP 231-233. "All school personnel who have reasonable cause to believe that a student has experienced sexual abuse by a staff member working in a school are required to make a report to Child Protective Services or law enforcement pursuant to . . . RCW 26.44." CP 231-233.

Jasmine McFadden was born on December 24, 1994 and turned 18 on December 24, 2012. CP 236. When plaintiff Angela Evans, mother of Jasmine McFadden, learned of the inappropriate relationship in 2013, she researched her phone records and "had Jasmine McFadden's phone bill printed up and noticed hundreds of texts and phone calls from Phone Number 253-353-0915. CP 235-240; CP 295. Most of these started in the

beginning of October of 2012, when Jasmine was a minor.” CP 235-240. Ms. Evans provided the Tacoma Police Department with a copy of the list of texts with the phone number highlighted from October 2012-December 2012. CP 235-240. The Tacoma Police were able to quickly determine that Mr. Brent had an extensive arrest history including several assaults for DV-Burglary, Assault, vandalism, DV-No Contact order violation, Driving with License Suspended and several DV-Court Order Violation Reports. CP 235-240.

In another police report, Jasmine admitted that she started speaking with Mr. Brent daily by phone in October of 2012, before school, after school and late at night. CP 245. Mr. Brent started working as a Campus Security Officer for TSD on September 24, 2009, and started as the only SAMI security guard in early 2011. CP 250. SAMI Assistant Director Kristen Tinder orally counseled Mr. Brent during the 2012-2013 school year for disrupting classes at SAMI by socializing with students. CP 251. According to Jasmine, she began spending time with Mr. Brent in August of 2012 by attending church with him. CP 254. The TSD investigation found that there were over 10,000 text messages between Jasmine and Mr. Brent between December 16, 2012 and May 12, 2013. CP 257. Jesse Brent’s number was 253-353-0915, CP 276. Ms. Evans provided Jasmine’s cell phone to the TSD investigator, where the investigation

found nude images of Jasmine sent to Mr. Brent, along with various messages that were sexual in nature. CP 278.

In the employment application and disclosure statements to the TSD, Mr. Brent submitted under oath that he had no criminal history. CP 259; CP 282, CP 284-286, CP 288-289, CP 291-292. This was a lie; Mr. Brent was convicted in September of 2010 by the Pierce County District Court of Malicious Mischief, Assault in the Fourth Degree, one count of interfering with the Reporting of Domestic Violence and one Count of Violation of No Contact Order. CP 260. Mr. Brent was also on “formal” court ordered probation from September of 2010 through September 2012 and was still on criminal probation when he was hired and worked at SAMI. CP 260. On April 5, 2012, when Mr. Brent applied to be a full time Campus Security Officer at SAMI (he was previously part-time), Mr. Brent lied and answered “No” to the question of “Have you ever been convicted of a crime?” CP 261. Mr. Brent also told a fabrication to TSD and answered “No” to the question of “Have there ever been findings against you in a civil adjudication involving domestic violence?”

After the fact, the TSD learned that Mr. Brent had a suspended invalid driver’s license from September 3, 2012 through May 6, 2013-the majority of the school year. CP 261. After the fact, it was also learned that Mr. Brent had previously been placed on administrative leave in his

previous job with DOC, but lied again on his TSD application stating that he had no previous administrative leaves. CP 264. TSD did not request Mr. Brent's Driving Record history until December of 2013, after TSD placed him on administrative leave and after Jasmine was graduated. CP 294.

Mr. Brent was not put on administrative leave for boundary invasion until September 3, 2013, after Jasmine was already graduated. CP 274. In a Planned Parenthood medical appointment on April 8, 2013, Jasmine reported that she obtained a new sexual partner in the last year, but not in the last 60 days, a man that she was having a monogamous relationship with, including vaginal, anal and oral sex. CP 280.

OBSERVATION OF INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIP WITH

MINOR

Jasmine's teacher, Ms. Carol Brouillette, acknowledges that she witnessed security guard Jesse Brent in her classroom "carrying on" with students and she knew it was inappropriate, yet she let this behavior continue while she was actively attempting to teach her class "because it wasn't her job to tell Mr. Brent to do his job" and patrol the campus. Ms. Brouillette was so upset about Mr. Brent's inappropriate behavior that she talked to various staff and vented her frustration, but Ms. Brouillette never informed administration of her serious concerns. Specifically, Ms.

Brouillette testified that she previously taught 11th and 12th grade English..
CP 300. Ms. Brouillette recalled Jasmine. *Id.*, CP 300. Teacher
Brouillette testified:

Q. Do you recall Jessie Brent spending time in your
classroom?

A. He was in the back of my classroom pretty often.

Q. Do you remember what year?

A. It would have been during that-I think you said 2011/2012
school year because that was the year I was teaching in
portable 4.

Q. What would he (Brent) be doing in your classroom?

A. Just hanging out in the back talking to students and being in
the way.

Q. Did that appear to you to be concerning?

A. Just annoying, but he was in the back of teachers'
classrooms and so I wished he would go somewhere else,
but it didn't concern me.

CP 301.

Q. Why didn't you tell Jessie Brent to get out of your
classroom?

A. That's a very good question. I don't know. I think it was
just- it was a common thing. He was in the back of
everyone's classrooms. And I guess for a while it seemed
like a part of his job to just come in and check on everyone.
And I guess his check-ins just started lasting, but it was a
pretty common complaint among the teachers. It's just like
Jessie is here.

Q. You understood it wasn't part of his job to stay in the back of the classroom and socialize while you were conducting class?

A. It also wasn't a part of my job to tell him how to do his.

Q. Did you ever complain to anyone in your administration?

A. I don't recall complaining officially about it, no.

Q. Who did you informally make comments to?

A. Probably it would have been to other members of the humanities department and just other co-workers. This was a complaint we all had in common.

Q. When he started to linger in your classroom, how long would he typically be there?

A. I don't remember how long he would be there.

Q. Would it be several minutes to like up to half an hour?

A. It was enough to get annoying, yes.

Q. But it was enough that it stuck out in your head and you were annoyed by it?

A. Yes.

CP 301.

Q. If this is your class and your students, and you are trying to teach and you have someone back there that doesn't belong there interrupting your class, why didn't you say something.

A. Again, it wasn't my job to tell him how to do his job. . . . And occasionally I would ask him to stop talking, but it wasn't my job to tell him to go and patrol the school or whatever he was supposed to do.

Q. When Mr. Brent was back there socializing and talking to students, was there any legitimate security reason you saw for him to do that?

A. I didn't perceive that there was one.

Q. For instance, you didn't ask Mr. Brent to stay in your classroom?

A. I did not.

Q. And there was no security threat in your classroom such as a disruptive student, or a student that might have been high on drugs, or anything like that that you recall required him to be there?

A. I never invited him in for any of those reasons.

CP 301-302.

Q. So the behavior you observed was Officer Brent-how would you describe it? Was it like laughing? Talking? Socializing?

A. Yeah. He was just back there talking to the kids.

Q. Were you concerned that the kids he was talking to should have been engaged in your lessons and your tasks?

A. Yes.

CP 302.

Q. But this bothered you?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever have the impression that Mr. Brent was getting too personal with the students?

A. I did feel like he was too informal with them, yes.

CP 302.

Ms. Brouillette testified that Mr. Brent saw the students at SAMI as his peers, like he was another student. CP 302. Teacher Brouillette also testified that Mr. Brent's "relationship with the kids struck me as informal and unprofessional[,]” and that it continued for a significant or long period of time, to the point she became annoyed and voiced her concerns informally to other teaching staff. CP 302, CP 303. Ms. Brouillette agreed that it would have been inappropriate for Mr. Brent to text students with numerous text messages, especially text messages after school hours. CP 302. Ms. Brouillette testified that Jasmine may have been one her “bridge helpers” (teacher assistants) and that bridge helpers are free to roam the classroom, but did not remember Jasmine. CP 303.

Kristen Tinder was the Assistant Principal at SAMI and was familiar with Jasmine. CP 307. Assistant Principal Tinder testified that another teacher named Mary Mann came to her in the Fall of 2011 with concerns that Mr. Brent was “spending a little too much time in her art class” and another “special ed teacher (Sandy Farewell) that shared concerns about him spending a little too much time in a study skills class.” CP 308. Ms. Tinder admits that this would have been in Jasmine’s junior year in the Fall of 2011. CP 308. Ms. Tinder knew that in the Fall of 2011, a teacher was “just concerned that he was spending a little bit too much time in that class, and was kind of hanging out with Stan in a way

that wasn't quite appropriate as far as just kind of sitting down next to him . . . and he was chatting with him, so that was the concern." CP 308. Ms. Tinder admitted that Mr. Brent had no legitimate reason as a security guard to be socializing with students in their classroom while they were class. CP 308-309. Ms. Tinder was also aware that Mr. Brent's brother in law, a security guard at Stadium named Donald Lipscomb where Brent also worked, was investigated and later convicted of having sex with under-aged students. CP 309. Ms. Tinder agrees that she should report to CPS or law enforcement as a mandatory reporter when a staff member has violated inappropriate boundary issues with staff and students. CP 309.

Ms. Tinder agrees that there is no reason that a security guard should be sending thousands of text messages to a student or texting students at all. CP 309; CP 312. In fact, staff members at SAMI should not have student numbers at all, it is a boundary invasion issue. *Id.*, at CP 309. It is also a boundary invasion issue for a staff member to single out a particular student, according to Tinder. *Id.*, at CP 309. Tinder agrees that it is unacceptable conduct for a security guard to be in the classroom during class talking to a female student daily during class or text messaging a student after hours. CP 309. Ms. Tinder interviewed and approved Brent for hire at SAMI but did not check his criminal history; she agrees that with his criminal history, he was not appropriate for hire

with his history of assaults, malicious mischief and violation of protective orders. *Id.*, at CP 310-311. Tinder testified:

Q. And based on Mr. Brent's criminal history, you would agree that he never should have been employed at SAMI at all?

A. Correct.

CP 310.

Tinder testified that Brent's failure to have a valid driver's license would have prevented him from having employment at SAMI as a guard. CP 310. Tinder never checked Brent's credentials after he was hired and never asked HR to follow up, she just trusted TSD Human Resources. CP 311. Teacher Brouillette never told Tinder of her concerns with Brent. CP 311. After the fact, Ms. Tinder stated that Mr. Brent was acting like "one of the kids." CP 312.

Paul McGrath was the former guidance counselor for SAMI. CP 317:321. Mr. McGrath testified that it would have been inappropriate for staff the text students, show students special attention, or anything that violated TSD's boundary issues policy. CP 319. The concern, of course, is staff members engaging in "grooming" conduct. CP 319. Mr. McGrath testified that staff that becomes aware of any "boundary" issue are required to report the issues to the principal, CPS or law enforcement. CP 320. McGrath testified that any staff that knew of unacceptable boundary

violations were required to report such issues as mandatory reporters. CP 320. McGrath testified that there was no legitimate reason for Brent to send numerous text messages to Jasmine. CP 320. McGrath testified that there was no legitimate reason for Brent to spend time socializing with students in their classroom during class and that this would have been inappropriate and should have been reported to CPS or law enforcement. CP 320, CP 321.

Gayle Elijah is the Director of Labor and Employee Relations at the Tacoma School District and was during the relevant time periods. CP 326, 327. Ms. Elijah testified that had she known of Mr. Brent's criminal history at the time that she hired him, she "would not have hired him." CP 328. Ms. Elijah does not know how Mr. Brent "fell through the cracks." CP 328. Ms. Elijah testified that Mr. Brent did falsify his criminal history background in his application. CP 328. Ms. Elijah agrees that the most primary goal of TSD is to ensure the safety and welfare of the students in the district. CP 329. Ms. Elijah testified:

Q. As a human resource professional for the Tacoma School District, had you known of Mr. Brent's criminal history as stated on pages 10-12 of this March 7, 2014 letter, you would agree that you would have never hired Mr. Brent to be a security guard at SAMI?

A. I would agree.

CP 329, CP 250-272.

Former Student Kuammesha Moore testified that Mr. Brent was being inappropriate and violating the TSD boundary policy while Jasmine was a minor:

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