FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2015 NOV 18 AM 10:00

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY \_\_\_\_\_

DEPUTY 

NO. 47612-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

ANGELA EVANS,

APPELLANT- PLAINTIFF

v.

TACOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 10,

RESPONDENT- DEFENDANT

---

APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT  
CAUSE NO. 14-2-09576-2  
HONORABLE ELIZABETH MARTIN

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TACOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 10**

---

PATTERSON BUCHANAN  
FOBES & LEITCH, INC., P.S.  
2112 Third Avenue, Suite 500  
Seattle, WA 98121  
Tel. 206.462.6700

Charles P.E. Leitch  
WSBA No. 25443  
Angela N. Marshlain,  
WSBA No. 37118  
Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

##### **A. Standard of Review.**

Ms. Evans' appeal challenges the legal grounds for rulings set forth in two separate orders from the Trial Court. First, Ms. Evans contends the Court erred in dismissing her seduction of a child claim and negligence

claims pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). In addition, she contends the Trial Court erred in granting the District's motion for summary judgment dismissing her claim for the "negligent failure to report child abuse pursuant to RCW 26.44.030."

"A trial court's ruling to dismiss a claim under 12(b)(6) is reviewed de novo." *Kinney v. Cook*, 159 Wn. 2d 837, 842, 154 P. 3d 206 (2007) (citing *Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Servs.*, 136 Wn. 2d 322, 329-30, 962 P. 2d 104 (1998)). Dismissal under CR 12(b)(6) "is warranted...if the court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt, the plaintiff cannot prove 'any set of facts which would justify recovery.'" *Kinney*, 159 Wn. 2d at 842.

The review of a trial court's granting of summary judgment is also a de novo review. *See Beggs v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 171 Wn. 2d 69, 75, 247 P. 3d 421 (2011).. Civil Rule 56 provides that a motion for summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). To overcome a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must set forth specific facts, and must do more than express opinions or make conclusory statements, showing that there is a genuine issue for trial or must provide facts sufficient to make a prima facie case. *See*

*Francom v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 98 Wn. App. 845, 852, 991 P.2d 1182 (2000); *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn. 2d 216, 225, 770 P. 2d 182 (1989).

As will be set forth below, a de novo review of the Trial Court's rulings shows that the Trial Court did not commit reversible error in dismissing the claims that are the subject of this appeal.

**B. The Trial Court's dismissal of Ms. Evans' claim for alienation of affections/seduction of a child under CR 12(b)(6) was proper.**

Ms. Evans contends the Trial Court committed reversible error by dismissing her statutory seduction of a child claim and common law alienation of affections claim. This position is without merit as there are no alleged facts, or even presumed facts, consistent with her Complaint that would entitle Ms. Evans to relief under these legal theories, one of which has been expressly abolished under Washington law.

**1. The common law claim for alienation of affections has been abolished and is no longer recognized as a valid tort claim in this State.**

First and foremost, the tort of alienation of affections, which Ms. Evans did not plead in her Complaint but which was asserted for the first time in her opposition to the District's motion to dismiss, was abolished in Washington in 1976 and therefore it is not a valid legal claim. *See Lien v. Barnett*, 58 Wn. App. 680, 683-85, 794 P. 2d 865 (1990); *Lund v. Caple*,

100 Wn. 2d 739, 744-47 (1984); *Wyman v. Wallace*, 15 Wn. App. 395, 395-401 (1976). As the tort of alienation of affections is no longer a recognized cause of action, the Trial Court properly dismissed this claim as there are no facts, pled or not, that would justify recovery.

It is unclear from Ms. Evans' brief, but it may be that Ms. Evans is arguing that this Court should reverse the abolishment of this claim. Even if the Court was inclined to reverse the abolishment, Ms. Evans' Complaint did not set forth sufficient factual allegations to prove the elements of the claim. There are no factual allegations stated therein, or even hypothetical facts, which point to any alleged malicious interference with Ms. Evans' relationship with J.M. that were undertaken by the District, let alone any acts done with the purpose of causing a loss of affection between Ms. Evans and J.M. *See Strobe v. Gleason*, 9 Wn. App. 13, 510 P. 2d 50 (1973); CP 1-6.

Ms. Evans cites to the case of *Tyner v. DSHS*, 141 Wn. 2d 68, 1 P. 3d 1148 (2000) for the proposition that Washington courts have implicitly lifted the abolishment of a common law claim for alienation of affections, recognizing a parental cause of action against a party who damages the parent/child relationship. Such a reading of *Tyner* is entirely incorrect and misplaced. The case of *Tyner v. DSHS* arises out of a CPS investigation into allegations of parental child abuse. *See Tyner*, 141 Wn. 2d at 71.



During the pendency of the CPS investigation, Mr. Tyner was separated from his children for a period of approximately 17 weeks. *See Id.* at 71-76. In issuing its decision, the court was not asked to determine if there is a parental cause of action for alienation of affections. Rather, it was asked to determine whether the State owed a duty of care to parents when conducting investigations pursuant to RCW 26.44.050. *See Id.* at 76-77. The court, in examining RCW 26.44.050, ultimately held that under that specific statute “CPS owes a duty of care to a child’s parents...when investigating allegations of child abuse.” *Id.* at 82. Nowhere in *Tyner* does the court go so far as to issue a blanket ruling that parents may sue for damages to a parent/child relationship, as is suggested by Ms. Evans.

**2. Ms. Evans has never alleged that the District was the perpetrator of any alleged seduction and thus the District is not the proper party against whom to assert a claim for seduction of a child.**

As for Ms. Evans’ seduction of a child claim, the District does not contend that RCW 4.24.020 has ever been held invalid or unconstitutional as is suggested in Ms. Evans’ briefing. Rather, it is apparent through the facts alleged in Ms. Evans’ Complaint that J.M. is **not** a minor child, as is required for a parent or guardian to assert a cause of action under RCW 4.24.020. *See* RCW 4.24.020. Nowhere in the plain language of this

statute does it state that a parent may maintain a claim for seduction of an adult child. *See Id.* For this reason, Ms. Evans' claim lacks merit.

Further, and of equal, if not more importance, the factual allegations set forth in Ms. Evans' Complaint do not allege, or demonstrate, that the District, as opposed to Mr. Brent, is liable for the alleged "seduction" of J.M. Black's Law Dictionary defines "seduction" as:

"[t]he offense that occurs when a man entices a woman of previously chaste character to have unlawful intercourse with him by means of persuasion, solicitation, promises, or bribes, or other means not involving force."

*Black's Law Dictionary* 1093 (7<sup>th</sup> ed. 2000). This definition clearly illustrates who the proper defendant is for a claim brought under RCW 4.24.020, that being the man who entices the woman (or vice versa). The District is simply not capable of committing the act of seduction. This distinction was recognized in the highly illustrative and factually on-point case of *Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 66 (2007). In *Doe*, the trial court held that parents could not recover from a school district on a seduction claim arising out of a relationship between their minor daughter and a substitute teacher because the school district was not the perpetrator of the seduction. *See Doe*, 375 S.C. at 66. Upholding the lower court's dismissal of the claim, the court opined that the defendant to a

seduction action **must** be the perpetrator of the seduction and that the school district was clearly not the perpetrator of the seduction. *Id.* at 69.

Ms. Evans appears to be arguing that the *Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist.* ruling should be entirely disregarded as it is not a decision from a Washington court. This position is without merit as while out-of-state rulings are not binding precedent, they are often cited to in appellate court decisions and are highly illustrative when case law within the jurisdiction is lacking.

The only case that Ms. Evans cites to in support of her argument that her seduction of a child claim should not have been dismissed is the entirely irrelevant case of *D.L.S. v. Maybin*, 130 Wn. App. 94, 121 P. 3d 1210 (2005). A review of the opinion shows that this case does not touch upon the legal requirements of the claim under the statute in question; rather, it only mentions RCW 4.24.020 in a footnote listing the claims asserted by the father against the various defendants. *See D.L.S.*, 130 Wn. App. at 97, n.1. Nowhere does this opinion discuss the legal validity of a claim for seduction of a child when such a claim is brought against a myriad of defendants, including the seducer, and therefore it is of no import to the question presently before this Court.

**3. The doctrine of *respondeat superior* does not apply to the intentional acts of an employee committed outside of the course and scope of employment and made in furtherance of the employee's personal objectives.**

Ms. Evans argues that the Trial Court erred when it refused to apply the doctrine of *respondeat superior* and find the District vicariously liable for Mr. Brent's alleged seductive actions. This argument is entirely unsupported by any legal precedent. Rather, an examination of the case law illustrates that under the facts of this case, the Trial Court was correct in holding that the District cannot be held liable for the alleged seductive actions of Mr. Brent.

In claiming the Trial Court committed reversible error in dismissing her claim, Ms. Evans disregards the fact that her Complaint fails to assert any alleged actions undertaken by Mr. Brent that were done in furtherance of the District's interests. Rather, all of the alleged acts stated in Ms. Evans' Complaint on which she bases her seduction of a child claim are clearly intentional acts undertaken with the sole purpose of gratifying Mr. Brent's personal objectives and desires, including his own sexual gratification. This necessarily bars the application of the theory of *vicarious liability*.

Ms. Evans appears to be arguing that the Trial Court applied too stringent a standard in dismissing her claim, claiming it should have been a question of fact left for a jury. However, this argument lacks merit as it fails

to acknowledge the series of Washington cases that support the Trial Court's ruling by clearly holding that an employer, including a school district, is not liable for intentional acts of an employee undertaken for personal sexual gratification when the acts do not further the employer's interests. See *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn. 2d 39, 55 (1997) (holding that a sexual relationship between a student and teacher is not within the scope of a teacher's employment); *Bratton v. Calkins*, 73 Wn. App. 492, 501, 870 P. 2d 981 (1994) (holding a group home could not be held vicariously liable for an employee's sexual assault of a resident); *Thompson v. Everett Clinic*, 71 Wn. App. 548, 860, P. 2d 1054 (1993) (holding that a doctor's tortious sexual assault of a patient was not attributable to the clinic that employed him).

In the case of *Bratton v. Calkins*, another factually on-point case involving a sexual relationship between a student and her teacher, the court found that "a sexual relationship between a teacher and a student does not benefit the employer and is not within the teacher's scope of employment...A personally motivated sexual relationship between a teacher and a student does not further the employer's interest." *Bratton*, 73 Wn. App. at 500-01. The opinion goes on to state that "[e]ven if [the] employment provided the opportunity for the wrongful acts, [the]

intentional tortious actions should not be attributable to the school district.”

*Id.* at 501.

The same reasoning supports the Trial Court’s dismissal of Ms. Evans’ claim in this matter. Regardless of whether or not Mr. Brent’s position with the District provided him with the opportunity to interact with Ms. Evans’ daughter, the District cannot be held liable for the claimed clearly intentional and personally motivated acts of Mr. Brent, which Ms. Evans claims amounted to the seduction of J.M.

**C. The Trial Court’s dismissal of Ms. Evans’ negligence claims under CR 12(b)(6) was proper in light of the fact that the District does not owe Ms. Evans a legal duty under the facts alleged in her Complaint.**

Ms. Evans contends the Trial Court committed reversible error by dismissing her claims for negligent hiring, training, supervision and retention pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) as even if Mr. Brent’s conduct fell outside of the scope of his employment, she contends the District owed her, as opposed to or in addition to her daughter J.M., a duty to exercise reasonable care in the hiring, retention and supervision of Mr. Brent. In making this argument, Ms. Evans cites to a number of cases addressing similar negligence claims made against an employer arising out of an employee’s alleged actions. However, she fails to acknowledge the major difference between those cases and her own; that being that the plaintiffs in the cases

she relies upon were the persons actually harmed by an employee's actions. This is a key distinction for the purposes of Ms. Evans' appeal.

What Ms. Evans fails to recognize is that there is a fatal flaw in her negligence claims against the District which makes any evidence she offers in support of her claims of negligent hiring, supervision or retention wholly irrelevant. That fatal flaw being that the District owed no duty to her, as opposed to her now-adult daughter, J.M.

The essential elements of a negligence claim are: (1) the existence of a duty owed to the **complaining party**; (2) a breach of that duty; (3) a resulting injury; and (4) a proximate cause between the breach and injury. *See Christen v. Lee*, 113 Wn. 2d 479, 780 P. 2d 1307 (1989). The District does not dispute that school districts have a duty to use reasonable care to protect **students** from reasonably foreseeable harms while they are in the school district's custody. *See Peck v. Siau*, 65 Wn. 2d 285, 292, 827 P. 2d 1108 (1992). Included in this duty is a duty to use reasonable care in the hiring, supervision and retention of employees. *See Id.* at 292-94. However, these duties **do not** extend to a student's parents. *See Jachetta v. Warden Joint Consolidated School District*, 142 Wn. App. 819, 176 P. 2d 545 (2008). In addition, as was discussed previously, a school district may not be held liable under the theory of vicarious liability for the intentional

acts of an employee which do not further the school district's interests. *See Bratton v. Calkins*, 73 Wn. App. 492, 501, 870 P. 2d 981 (1994).

The court's holding in the case of *Jachetta v. Warden Joint Consolidated School District* illustrates why the Trial Court's dismissal of Ms. Evans' negligence claims was proper. In *Jachetta*, the parents of a student brought a negligence action against the school district alleging the district was negligent in responding to a threat made to their son. *See Jachetta*, 142 Wn. App. at 821. The court ultimately found that while the school district had a duty to protect the Jachettas' son from reasonably anticipated dangers, i.e. the threat, Mr. and Mrs. Jachetta were not students and thus the school district had **no duty** to protect them. *See Id.* at 824.

Similarly, in this case, while the District had a duty to protect J.M. and other pupils from reasonably anticipated dangers, this duty **did not** extend to Ms. Evans. Regardless of what she pled in Paragraph 4.9 of her Complaint, or what she may hypothetically be able to show through discovery or that was submitted to the Trial Court in later briefing, and even assuming there was some evidence that the District breached a duty owed to J.M. based upon the facts alleged in Ms. Evans' Complaint (which the District strongly maintains it did not), such a duty would have been owed to J.M., **not** to Ms. Evans. Accordingly, as no legal duty was owed to Ms. Evans by the District under the facts of this Complaint, there is no need to



address whether sufficient facts were pled by Ms. Evans to support the additional elements of her negligence claims.

**D. The Trial Court Did Not Commit Reversible Error by Ordering the Summary Judgment Dismissal of Ms. Evans' Claim for "Negligent Failure to Report Child Abuse Pursuant to RCW 26.44.030."**

Ms. Evans contends the Trial Court erred in granting the District's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing her claim for "negligent failure to report child abuse pursuant to RCW 26.44.030" arguing that the statute contains an implied cause of action for the parent of a child abuse victim. However, a review of the relevant statutes, case law, and evidence shows that this argument is without merit and the Trial Court was correct in dismissing this claim.

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